A Nuclear Radiation Snow Gage

aug/1967

bulletin no. 13

aho

Ò

0

university

engineering experiment station

ч

by George A. McKean

/

[: : A NUCLEAR RADIATION SNOW GAGE

By: George A. McKean

7

۹.

-

THE ENGINEERING EXPERIMENT STATION

The Engineering Experiment Station was formally organized at the University of Idaho in 1928. Prior to this time investigational work had been carried on in the materials testing and other laboratories. To date thirteen bulletins have been published and the results of numerous studies appear in mimeographed form.

The Station was established to do research work on engineering problems of importance to industries, municipalities, public utilities, state departments, and engineers of Idaho.

Through the Station, research activity of students as well as faculty members of the College of Engineering is stimulated. Results of investigations and compilations of data are published as a service to citizens of the state.

The staff of the Station is composed of the President of the University, the Director, Associate Director, and various members of the faculty of the College of Engineering. The laboratories of the departments of civil, electrical, mechanical, chemical, and agricultural engineering are employed in the investigations conducted by the Station.

For further information write to:

Director Engineering Experiment Station University of Idaho Moscow, Idaho 83843

FOREWORD

The information presented in this bulletin was derived from an investigation conducted by the University of Idaho Engineering Experiment Station for the Walla Walla Corps of Engineers under Contract Number DA-45-164-CIVENG-62-172. Subsequent to the conduction of this contract, the University continued to study program aspects which contractual obligations precluded. This continued effort was aided financially by the Office of Water Resources Research, U. S. Bureau of Reclamation, and the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers in addition to funding from the State of I'daho.

Directly aiding in the investigation were L. M. Maxwell, D. L. Duncan, K. D. Wohllaib, and H. M. Waldron III, all former University of Idaho employees. The administrative assistance of Dean Allen S. Janssen and Professor C. C. Warnick were also helpful and made this program possible.

Gratefully acknowledged is the assistance of Dean H_{\circ} S. Smith, Dr. R. E. Warner, and Professor W. R. Parish for their kindness in reviewing this bulletin. Gratitude is also expressed to Mr. Port McKinster and Mr. Steven Granger for their preparation of figures, to Miss Linda Couper for typing, and to Miss Shirley Martinson for re-producing the final copies.

George A. McKean

Moscow, Idaho August 1967

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	1
THE NUCLEAR RADIATION METHOD OF MEASURING SNOW	2
Selection of Radiation Source	5
Radiation Geometry	6
Scattering	7
RADIATION SNOW GAGE SPECIFICATIONS	8
Range, Resolution, and Accuracy	8
Environmental Conditions	9
Data Acquisition	10
RADIATION SNOW GAGE AND DEVELOPMENT	11
Scattering and Snow-Water Equivalence	11
Selection of Radiation Detector	14
Detector and Radiation Source Location	17
Radiation Geometry	18
The Scintillation-Type Detector	20
Scintillation crystals	22
Photomultiplier tubes	23
Linear amplifier and pulse height discriminator	27
Statistical Accuracy	27
Radiation Statistics	27
Size of radiation source	30
Radio and Data Acquisition System	30
The radio system	30
The 'data conversion system	33
Snow Gage Calibration	35
Notes on field calibration	38
THE FINAL SNOW GAGE RADIATION DETECTOR	41
SNOW GAGE SYSTEM RESULTS	43
CONCLUDING REMARKS	44
BIBLIOGRAPHY	45

~

A NUCLEAR RADIATION SNOW GAGE

George A. McKean¹

ABSTRACT

The measurement of water stored in snow packs is important to determine the efficient utilization of this water. Various methods have been used for this measure= ment but have not provided accuracies sufficient for precision analyses.

Nuclear radiation is shown to be a useful tool for nondestructive water equivalent measurement. The scin= tillation detector was selected as a desired instrument, and the selection criteria, design features, and perfor= mance are presented. Although a unit of relatively high cost, this detector is shown to be capable of arbitrarily high resolution.

INTRODUCTION

For many years attempts have been made to forecast the rate and absolute magnitude of water yield from remote, mountainous environments. The difficulty of acquiring and assembling the necessary data has resulted in forecasts created more from artistic judgment than from scientific analysis. The complexity of present-day society demands increased forecasting accuracy for application to the technologies of hydroelectric power generation, irrigation, soil conservation, and perhaps most critical, flood control.

Research Supervisor, Engineering Experiment Station and Associate Professor, Department of Electrical Engineering, University of Idaho.

Certain of these applications place stringent requirements on the methodology used in forecasting water yield. Even an inexhaustive list of these requisites would include the determination of which parameters are needed, the measurement of these parameters, the acquisition of these data, and the final data processing.

To the most thorough of analysts, the appropriateness and usefulness of the numerous available parameters remain conjectural. Accumulated total precipitation, quantity of water stored in a snow pack, depth of a snow pack, wind velocity, net solar radiation, soil moisture, ground temperature, and air temperature form but a partial list of parameters which may be of transcendent importance in hydrologic prediction. Any or all of these factors might be useful but, in any event, their usefulness cannot be evident until made available by measurement.

There remains the problem, which has continued for more than two decades, of both measuring hydrologic parameters and acquiring the measured results with sufficient expedience before final forecasting can result from data processing. The entirety of this bulletin will dwell on parameter measurement, further constrained to the determination of water storage in snow packs.

THE NUCLEAR RADIATION METHOD OF MEASURING SNOW

Nuclear radiation can be shown to be a practical method for measuring the amount of water stored in a snow pack. A knowledge of nuclear radiation theory gives an awareness that mass attenuates, or deters the passage of nuclear radiation. Snow is actually water in a solid, crystalline state; hence its mass must be due to the water content. If the attenuation of nuclear radiation through a snow pack can be measured, it seems that this attentuation

can be interpreted in terms of the mass of water stored in the snow pack.

Determining the amount of water in a snow pack by using radioactivity is heuristically justified by examination of the narrow beam radiation attenuation equation.

 $I = I_0 e^{\mu \chi}$ where the above equation,

I = radiation intensity after attenuation

I_= initial intensity of impingent radiation

y = total linear absorption coefficient

 χ = thickness, or depth, of the radiation absorber. The total linear absorption coefficient, µ, includes both the true absorption of gamma photons and the scattering from the collimated beam. It is sometimes referred to as the"narrow beam" coefficient since its validity depends in part on two conditions; (1) The collimation of the radiation beam must be sufficient to minimize the eventual detection of scattered photons that have departed from the main beam; (2) The absorber should be but slightly larger in area than the area of the collimated beam in order to create maximal probability of the permanent elimination of any photons scattered from the beam. These conditions are stated since the narrow beam absorption coefficient is greater than that which would be measured by an arrangement in which scattered gamma photons reach the detector.

The total absorption coefficient, μ is composed of three parts as expressed by the equation

(1)

concerned, pair production effects are almost nonexistent and attenuation due to photoelectric effect is so small as to be considered negligible. For the application under discussion, it may then be assumed that gamma attenuation is entirely due to Compton effect.

In order to justify the use of radiation attenuation as a practical method for measuring the water equivalent of a snow pack, it is necessary to write Equation (1) on a mass basis. Conventionally this is written as

 $\mathbf{I} = \mathbf{I}_{o} \mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{W}_{m} \mathbf{X}_{m}}$ (3)

where the new parameters are defined by

 μ_m =total mass absorption coefficient = μ/ρ

ρ mass density (mass/unit volume) of absorber

 χ_m = mass thickness of absorber = ρ_X

It is known that the mass absorption coefficient, μ_{m} , is a function of both photon energy, E, and the atomic number of the absorber Z. This function will be defined as

 $\mu_m = f(E,Z)$ (4) where the nature of the general function, f(E,Z), will be discussed in more detail later.

From Equation (4) and the relation between μ and $\mu_m{}^{\rho}$ the narrow beam absorption coefficient may be expressed as

 $\mathbb{W}= \mathfrak{pf}(\mathbf{E}, \mathbf{Z})$

If the mass density, ρ is expressed as mass per unit volume, and the volume of the absorber, V, is expressed as the product of absorber thickness, x_{ρ} and absorber cross-section, A, then Equation (5) may be written as

 $\mu = (M/V) f(E_0 Z) = (M/Ax) f(E_0 Z)$ (6) Replacing μ in Equation (1) by the expression in Equation (6) gives

 $I = I_0 e^{-\mu\chi} = I_0 e^{-(M/A)} f(E_0 Z)$ (7)

Examination of Equation (7) shows what conditions must be met in order to measure accurately the water

(5)

equivalent of a snow pack with nuclear radiation techniques. For a given amount of snow and a correspondingly given amount of water equivalent, the exponent of e in Equation (7) must be a constant. This requires that the mass, M, of water in the beam of radiation must remain fixed, that the area, A, of the absorber in the beam must not vary, and the function, $f(E_pZ)$, must be an appropriately selected constant. The first two of these conditions are met if the radiation is cylindrically collimated to prevent a conical beam from encompassing varying mass and area with changing snow depth. The last condition, that $f(E_pZ)$ be an appropriately selected constant, is one used in selecting the source of radiation.

Selection of Radiation Source

In selecting the nuclear radiation source, it seems most practical to mention alpha, beta, X, and gamma radiation. The relative inability of alpha and beta radiation to penetrate appreciable quantities of water mass precludes the use of such radiation. Since X-rays are lower in energy than most gamma radiation, it seems that the selection of gamma radiation is the most practical of all the possibilities mentioned.

It is to be noted that neutrons could be used for this purpose since neutron energies are certainly sufficient for penetration of snow pack water levels. However the relative difficulty in procuring neutron sources makes the initial selection of gamma radiation still the most practical of all the possibilities mentioned.

The particular radiation source chosen for use is selected partly on the basis of the total linear absorption coefficient, μ_{e} mentioned in the preceding section. This coefficient was shown to be dependent upon the energy of the radiation source and the atomic number of the absorber. Since the absorber is the snow pack, it only is necessary to consider the relationship between this coefficient and the energy level of radiation.

Generally speaking this coefficient, μ_0 increases with photon energy. Inspection of Equation (1) reveals that larger values of μ give more positive curve slopes of radiation attenuation as a function of absorber depth. Since the operating range of the intended measurement device increases with increased slope, a radiation source with relatively large photon energies should be selected.

A further condition in source selection is that the source should be as monoenergetic as possible. This limits the selection of easily obtainable radioisotopes to Cesium-13? and Cobalt-60. Cesium-13? is actually monoenergetic, having a single photopeak at 0.66 Mev. Cobalt-60 is not monoenergetic since it has two photopeaks, one at 1.17 Mev and another at 1.3 Mev.

Cobalt-60 was selected for use in the nuclear radiation method. Although it is not a truly monoenergetic source, the two photopeaks are sufficiently close in energy ratings such that it can be considered monoenergetic for purposes of measuring snow pack water content. Furthermore, the increased photon energies of Cobalt-60, compared to those of Cesium-137, allows the cobalt source to provide better measurement resolution over either a 60 or 100 inch range of water equivalent.

Radiation Geometry

The section concerning attenuation theory, presented earlier, indicates that this nuclear radiation method is premised on the narrow-beam attenuation equation. The narrow-beam nature makes mandatory the consideration of system geometry.

The narrow-beam conditions of the attenuation equation will be most closely satisfied if the radiation beam

б

is of cylindrical configuration. Unfortunately, if a radiation beam is to pass through a snow pack which is twelve to fifteen feet in depth, the radiation from a point source makes a strictly cylindrical beam unattainable. Good collimation of the source will aid the approximation; it could be further improved by collimation of the radiation source. In any event, the radiation beam will be either conical or of the configuration formed by upright and inverted intersecting cones.

It is to be expected that the result will be at least a slight departure from the conditions predicted by the narrow-beam attenuation equation. This, of course, can be taken into account by the method used for calibrating the system.

Scattering

The nuclear radiation method of measuring snow pack water content depends on the attentuation presented to a radiation beam by the snow pack. The mechanics of this attenuation are of a scattering nature. If, for example, a gamma photon is emitted with a certain energy, E_0 and passes through the snow pack without collision with mass, it will be measured at the detector unattenuated, having an energy of E. If another photon, emitted with an energy E_0 passes through the snow pack and collides with mass, it may either be scattered out of the beam and hence will not be detected or it loses some of its energy and is detected at some energy level less than E_0 this latter case is that of Compton scattering.

Later in this bulletin, when the selection of the radiation detector is discussed, these two types of scattering will play an important role. Examining the nature of scattering offers the conjecture of whether or not scattering will occur to equal extents as the measured snow changes in density from one extreme of fluffy snow to the ultimate state of liquid water.

RADIATION SNOW GAGE SPECIFICATIONS

The conception of a radiation-type snow gage is dependent upon some rather general specifications which are of a systems nature. A survey of these criteria reveals the most important to be those discussed in the following three sub-sections.

Range, Resolution, and Accuracy

Measurement experience indicates that, in the Pacific Northwest, the equivalent amount of water stored in snow packs rarely exceeds 60 inches except on a few high mountain peaks. This figure has been taken as the maximum range of snow gage operation. It should be emphasized that 60 inches of water is not necessarily a measure of snow depth since the snow quality, or percentage ratio of equivalent water depth to snow depth, usually lies in the range from 10 per cent to 40 per cent, the precise value depending on previous weather history and the progression of a snow season.

From the attenuation discussion presented earlier in this bulletin, it is evident that, due to the exponential relationship between radiation attenuation and absorber depth, the accuracy of measurement will depend on the absorber depth. Measurement accuracy can therefore be specified at a low value of absorber depth with a resulting decreased accuracy at high depths, or an accuracy can be specified at the maximum depth with a correspondingly greater accuracy at low depths. Neither one of these cases is an optimum solution for reasons of sound engineering judgment in the first case and economics in the second. Based on the needs of flood control prediction, it was felt that the most desirable accuracy specifications could be achieved by dividing the total gage range into three sub-ranges and defining an accuracy figure for each of these sub-ranges. In terms of inches of water equivalent,

these accuracies were specified as 0.10 inch in the subrange from 0 to 20 inches, 0.25 inch in the sub-range from 20 to 40 inches, and 0.50 inch in the sub-range from 40 to 60 inches.

The accuracy figures can also be interpreted as resolution figures depending on the length of time considered with respect to gage operation. For purposes of flood control it is desirable to have resolutions of this order of magnitude for day-to-day operation. However, if the gage were accurate to within these figures over an entire snow season period, these figures would represent absolute accuracy. In this analysis, absolute accuracy was taken as being secondary since flood occurrence depends on the rate of runoff which can be measured in terms of gage resolution.

Environment Conditions

The determination of water storage in snow packs must be made at the source which is in remotely located, mountainous locations. Representative gaging sites are determined and these are inherently in regions mostly inaccessable during the winter months. This inaccessability to general travel is usually accompanied by lack of commercial electrical power at a site and thus the need for battery operated gaging equipment is established.

To merely specify that batteries must be used for operation would be an oversimplification of the problem. Since travel to these sites is nearly impossible during the winter months, even by helicopter in some cases, a given battery pack must be expected to last during the entire snow season which may be as long as ten months. The use of arbitrarily high capacity batteries does not represent a practical solution since, during the short periods of time that a site is free of snow, all equipment must be delivered to some of the more remote sites by animal pack train. It can be concluded that the snow gaging device must be battery operated, but must be of sufficiently low power requirement to permit its power to be supplied from batteries of a practical size.

From the discussion of the site access difficulties encountered in these mountainous terrains, it follows that the snow gage will be operated by remote control since it cannot be attended by personnel. The usually high elevations at these sites causes inclement weather conditions, the most important of which is low temperature. Low temperatures cause operating difficulties in electronic circuitry required for both radiation detection and radio communication, particularly if this circuitry is transistorized to minimize electrical power consumption. Typically these temperatures reach -30 C several times during a winter snow season.

Data Acquisition

The nature of the gage site locations creates the requirement for remotely controlled snow measurements. Land transmission lines, being nearly impossible to install and maintain, are precluded from possible use. Radio transmission is therefore required and must be designed such that the entire system may be summoned on an "on call" basis from a conveniently located data collection station, sometimes called a base station.

It is well recognized that the most practical method of transmitting quantitative data is through the use of pulse coded information. Unfortunately pulse coded information is considerably more subject to radio-frequency interference, or noise, than is the more commonly encountered voice communication. The conjecture of whether a frequency modulation or amplitude modulation system is better for this purpose has been demonstrated. It has been shown that, for a given transmission bandwidth, amplitude modulation is superior to frequency modulation for a specified rejection of impulse noise. However, it has long been felt that the converse was true and hence most commercial radio systems suitable for pulse transmission are of the frequency modulated type. For this reason alone, frequency modulation radio systems will be discussed in this bulletin although a suitable amplitude modulated system has been developed at the University of Idaho.

Regardless of whether amplitude or frequency modulation techniques are employed, the Federal Communications Commission has imposed some rigid restrictions on the transmission of hydrologic data. These data must be transmitted in the 170 MHz band allocated for hydrologic telemetry. The bandwidth, which limits both data handling capacity and permissible pulse durations, is set at 8KHz. Finally, the carrier frequency tolerance is limited to the federally assigned value \geq 0.0005 per cent. This last requirement is particularly important in view of the lack of frequency stability of an electronic oscillator under conditions of widely varying temperatures.

RADIATION SNOW GAGE AND DEVELOPMENT

Although the presentation in this section is not necessarily chronological, various segments of developing a radiation snow gage are presented in the order of necessary consideration for creating such a device. The results of several years of University of Idaho investigations are presented as an analysis rather than in the order that they were actually disclosed.

Scattering and Snow-Water Equivalence

4

It is important to determine whether or not a radiation measurement made of a snow pack to determine its

water equivalent will yield the same result when that amount of liquid water is measured. Thus the subject of so-called snow-water equivalence is essential to consider.

Extensive testing in University of Idaho laboratories has shown that some attenuation differences do occur as the absorber changes in physical state. It should be mentioned that the extent of this variation determines, in addition to radioisotope disintegration statistics, the theoretical limit of accuracy that can be obtained from such a measurement system.

System measurement error caused by scattering becomes evident when using the entire spectrum of Cobalt-60. Figure 1 shows a typical spectrum of this radioisotope. The photopeak region, which is that region representing the principal energies of photons emerging from the radioactive source, is the most desirable portion of the Cobalt-60 spectrum to use in the snow water measurement system. This desirability is explained by considering the effect of the absorber on the impingent photons.

If a single photon collides with a molecule of the absorber, then it either is scattered completely out of the beam and is not detected, or else it loses a portion of its energy and arrives at the detector with less energy than its initial amount at the time of emission. Those photons which were emitted with photopeak energies will be detected in the so-called Compton region, if they are scattered, and still arrive at the detector. Thus the degree of scatter, which is dependent upon the physical state of the absorber, will determine the number of counts obtainable in the scatter regions of the spectrum. To eliminate this dependence upon scatter, it is necessary to provide the detector with a means of counting only those photons in the photopeak region, thereby minimizing the error due to scattering differences. With the detector



set to accept only those photons with photopeak energies, these photons are those which have passed from the source through the absorber without attenuation due to the collision and resultant scattering. Hence this "energy discrimination" technique allows the unattenuated photons to be compared with the original number of photons emitted from the source.

Figure 2 shows the Cobalt-60 spectra for both snow and an equivalent amount of water. If an entire spectrum were used for counting, the count rate would be proportional to the area under the spectral curve and hence the error would be within the area difference of these two spectral plots.

Selection of Radiation Detector

As just mentioned, errors due to count rate difference between snow and an equivalent amount of water may be minimized by counting pulses due only to high energy photons. This may be accomplished by a scintillation type radiation detector. In a scintillation detector, pulse height descrimination is possible due to the linear dependence between energy of impingent photons on the detector and the height of the corresponding output pulse. A pulse height discriminator is capable of selecting either all the pulses in a certain energy interval (differential operation) or all the pulses above a preset level (integral operation). To maximize the number of counts per unit time, which is equivalent to creating maximal detection efficiency for a given source strength and detector crystal size, the integral mode of operation can be used.

Figure 3 shows some discriminator settings above which all counts will be detected. From the standpoint of snow and its water equivalent, if the discriminator is





set at A on this figure, then the scattering differences between snow and water will create as high as 30 per cent error. On the other hand, if the discriminator level is set at B_p only the photons of essentially photopeak energies will be detected, thus minimizing this scattering error.

As a parenthetic note it is mentioned that Geiger-Muller type detectors have no energy discrimination capability. Unless some sort of mechanical energy discrimination were used with this type of detector, errors in snow water equivalent measured, compared to the actual amount of water present, could easily approach 50 per cent.

Detector and Radiation Source Location

The decision to use a scintillation type radiation detector provides useful information to determine the relative positioning of the radiation source and detector. Relative positioning is taken to mean whether the detector is to be placed above the snow pack and the source underneath, or to position the source overhead and the detector underneath. Both cases will be discussed.

First consider the case in which the detector is placed above the snow pack and the source is buried beneath the snow pack. This has the advantage of having little measurement error from the detection of inherent background radiation since lead shielding can be used in the direction of the sky. Unfortunately, this particular gage configuration has a major disadvantage. Since the scintillation type radiation detector contains considerable electronic circuitry which must be transistorized for electrical power conservation, its exposure to the extremely inclement weather conditions would cause excessive system variance. This variance is caused by the inherent temperature stability problems common to many transistorized circuits.

the around during measurements show that ground temperature variation, the suggested configuration was chosen for use. lation detector is placed beneath. University of Idaho source is placed above the snow pack and detector affords For the the reasons freezing point of water. Thus the burial period of an entire winter, varies of temperature stability, the a stable temperature environment. the scintil-In this about second 3°℃ of Case

pack due depicted in Figure 4. A typical snow gage configuration, as conceived herein, Under these water against inherent background radiation. However, errors located. This precludes the possibility of shielding toward the sky ರ ೧ serves With the levels this conditions, the water stored in the background radiation are high only when са Уз are high and the detected radiation is detector buried, it necessarily looks a shield against some in which direction the radiation source background snow radiation. the low。 , Ч 1s

Radiation Geometry

this 0f sorber。 as the "narrow beam" nuclear radiation mentioned the basic small compared to the transverse dimensions condition that this name was An beam is that earlier discussion concerning Furthermore, the ideal geometric configuration given since the equation holds under the the cross-sectional area of the attenuation equation. To reiterate, of a right circular cylinder. attenuation equation attenuation of of the abbeam is

0 the ljer to be definitely conical in configuration. In depicted in cated approximately be transverse dimension of the beam, called A, was taken discussion of the narrow-beam attenuation ß constant. While the Figure 4, this distance will cause 0f 15 feet over the ground surface, actual radioisotope source would be course with a conical beam, equation, the earthe beam ⊢∘ Ք ເຊ ເຄ ≓ % **1**0 -





quite apparent that this cross-sectional area varies with distance from the radiation source. Conceivably, this could cause error as the snow melts due to a change in "effective cross-sectional area".

As a further consideration of radiation geometry, it is important that the radiation beam width should be kept as small as possible in order to minimize variance of the beam area with variation in distance from the source. The beam width is minimized by collimation which then requires very careful physical alignment of source and detector.

The Scintillation-Type Detector

A block diagram of a scintillation-type radiation detector is shown in Figure 5. The essential components of such a detector are the crystal, photomultiplier tube, linear amplifier and pulse height discriminator. In addition to these components, divider circuits and a pulse generator are added solely for compatibility with radio transmission requirements.

A scintillation system derives its name from the flashes of light, called scintillations, emanated from certain crystals as a result of radiation incident on the crystal. The number of scintillations is dependent upon radiation intensity at the crystal and the intensity depends on energy levels of the impingent radiation. These scintillations may be electronically detected by a photomultiplier tube yielding an overall input-output correspondence of radiation intensity to electrical pulse magnitude. It is, of course, the ability to detect energy levels that makes the scintillation system attractive for measuring water equivalent of snow by nuclear radiation techniques.

The complexity of the scintillation type detector caused considerable difficulties in its development for



location in inclement weather conditions. Taking each detector component separately, these difficulties will be discussed.

<u>Scintillation crystals</u>. The general class of crystals most suitable for use in scintillation-type detectors are those in the alkali halide family. The most efficient of these is the thallium-activated, sodium iodide crystal, usually referred to as a NaI(T1) crystal.

Sodium iodide is a highly hygroscopic material and hence must be encapsulated for protection from moisture. The encapsulant configuration is that of a metal cylinder with a transparent glass faceplate through which scintillations may be detected by the photomultiplier tube. The main difficulty encountered in using these crystals in non-laboratory applications is that there exists a tendency, as temperatures vary widely, for the crystal to separate from its transparent faceplate. This creates an opaque optical void, diminishing the efficiency and calibration of the scintillation detector. It should be noted that this problem is more prevalent in larger crystals than in smaller ones; that is, 1-1/2 inch diameter crystals are less susceptible to this effect than are 3 inch diameter crystals. A possible solution is to insert a transparent enoxy bonding material between the crystal and the faceplate. This problem is currently under investigation by crystal manufacturers, such as the Harshaw Chemical Company, but no solution has yet been announced.

Another preventive measure is to encapsulate the crystal in a ruggedized mounting assembly containing a spring to force the crystal against the faceplate. This method has been shown to be quite satisfactory and minimizes the crystal warpage with varying temperature. Not only does the effect of this warpage cause opaque optical voids but it can cause crystal fracturing as well. A 1-1/2 inch diameter NaI(T1) crystal, encapsulated in a ruggedized mounting assembly, has proved to be extremely reliable in tests over long periods of time and with repeated temperature cycling from -30° C to $+25^{\circ}$ C.

Photomultiplier Tubes. A photomultiplier tube contains a photoemissive cathode, a collecting anode, and a number of interstage anodes called dynodes. Light impining on the cathode results in emission of electrons. Once emitted, these electrons are attracted to a dynode which has a more positive electrical potential than that of the cathode. From this first dynode both the primary and secondary emission electrons move to a second dynode having a potential exceeding that of the first dynode. This process continues from dynode to dynode until the greatly increased number of electrons finally arrives at the collecting anode which is the most electrically positive element in the tube. It can be seen that current amplification is achieved in such a multi-stage tube, the number of stages taken to be equal to the number of dynodes in the tube.

It is known that photomultiplier tubes are susceptible to drifts of various types. Since the accuracy of measuring snow pack water content is dependent upon stability of the scintillation type detector, two types of drifts must be examined. At the outset of this investigation, a variety of photomultiplier tubes were tested in University of Idaho laboratories. Based on these investigations, which are fully discussed in reports (2, 10), an EMI brand, type 9536B tube was selected for this application. As each type of drift is discussed, testing results will be given for this particular type of tube.

The first of these types of photomultiplier drifts, called time drift, is the effect of changing gain, or

current amplification, with increasing time after application of electrical power to the tube. The cause of this drift is the variation of the photocathode work function with changing cathode temperature, resulting from electron emission and the change in near-cathode space potential distribution.

Time drift is of importance to the application under discussion since, to conserve power at a remote measuring location, continuous power application is not practical. A tube which has severe drift during the short measurement period would not provide repeatable data if it became necessary to recall a radiation snow gage for, say, a check count. Furthermore, severe drift would greatly affect gage calibration which will later be discussed.

Of all the photomultiplier tubes tested, the EMI 9536B proved to be the least affected by time drift. A typical time drift plot for such a tube is shown in Figure 6.

Since it may be necessary to recall a gage for a check count, it is desirable to know how long a tube remains "on" and then how long it must remain "off" before the next power application. One suitable figure for the EMI 9536B tube is that, for power application of five minutes, the gain will return to its original gain value fifteen minutes after power has been removed from the tube.

The second type of photomultiplier drift to be considered is that of changing gain with changing temperature. Although the scintillation detector will be buried in the ground which maintains near-freezing temperatures, calibration usually takes place in the fall when temperatures are considerably higher. Figure 7 shows the effect of temperature on the EMI tube. It can be seen that temperature compensation factors should be taken into account when actually measuring snow pack water content.



HOE TO X TO TO V2 INCH 46 1320 7 X TO INCHES MODE IN U.S.A KEUFFEL & ESSER CO.



KoE 10 X 10 T0 1/3 INCH 46 1320 x 10 INCHES MARE N. S.A. KEUFFEL & ESSER CO.

مريد ا

 \bigcirc

Linear amplifier and pulse height discriminator. The pulses obtained from the photomultiplier tube contain the information necessary, namely, the repetition rate of pulses in a certain height interval. Before these pulses can be counted to determine repetition rate, the unwanted pulses must be eliminated. This elimination technique, called discrimination, is accomplished with a pulse height discriminator circuit.

Before pulse height discrimination is possible, amplification is necessary to eliminate extreme criticality of discrimination, or threshold adjustment. Pulses emanating from photomultiplier tubes have a range of pulse heights centered in the vicinity of 50 millivolts. In order to preserve the linear dependence of radiation photon energy to pulse height, these photomultiplier pulses are amplified linearly. Hence a linear amplifier is interposed between the photomultiplier tube and the pulse height discriminator.

Results of a University of Idaho investigation (2) indicated that, for good stability and low power consumption, the best commercially available combination of linear amplifier and pulse height discriminator was manufactured by Picker X-Ray Corporation. To provide a readily available supply of these circuits, these Picker circuits were incorporated in the snow gage. Test data revealed these circuits to be nearly totally insensitive to changes in environmental temperature in the range from -5°C to +20°C. Furthermore, a 10 per cent deviation from rated supply voltage causes no significant change in operating characteristics.

Statistical Accuracy

<u>Radiation statistics</u>. Due to the random nature of the gamma events which are detected by the radiation snow gage, the timed counts obtained by this system will show fluctuations for a constant amount of snow pack water content. The distribution of the time intervals between pulses will closely obey the Poisson law except for a slight deviation caused by the "dead-time" of the detector circuitry (7). At high levels of water equivalent, the uncertainty introduced by these statistical variations presents one limit of snow gage accuracy.

Statistical theory shows that to minimize measurement deviations due to this randomness, the largest possible number of pulses should be counted, from which count rate will then be determined. For simplicity, nomographs have been developed which show. for any total count obtained, what accuracy should be attributed to the data with a particular confidence level. Such a nomograph (7) is presented in Figure 8. A confidence level of 0.9 means that, 9 times out of 10, the data will be within the per cent error intersected by a line drawn from the confidence level figure to the Lotal count number. In this example, once in 10 readings, the data may be somewhat more in error than indicated. It is thus seen that if a greater confidence level is desired, an increased number of total counts must be measured. In this discussion, total counts are those from the photomultiplier tube prior to any division for purposes of radio transmission.

A final comment concerning the nomograph of Figure 8 applies to uncertainty. An error indicated on the nomograph is a deviation from the statistical average of radioisotope disintegrations. Although the calibration data are presented later in the text, if these data are used to convert counts, or disintegrations, into measured water equivalent, it can be seen that the nomograph indicated error is pessimistic. For example, a counting error of ±3.5 per cent corresponds to a water equivalent determin-



Figure 8. Nomograph for statistical counting error.

29

I.

ation uncertainty of 18,15 inch. A graph relating the actual uncertainty in water equivalent due to a certain expected count rate effort is given in Figure 9.

Size of radiation source. Since the total number of pulses counted determines the statistical accuracy of measuring water equivalent (8%, it is necessary to consider the size of radiation source required to give a specified, unartenuated count rate. The calculation of required source strength can only be approximated due to the many variables involved, including alignment of source and detector, positioning of the source in the collimator, scintillation saystal efficiency, the extent of collimation, the geometry of the terraid in which the measurement is made and the maximum count rate which will avoid system saturation. University of Idaho investigation revealed that, for the snow gage Configuration indicated in Figure 4, an unattenuated count rate of the desired 5000 counts/ sec is attained when the radiation intensity is 0.015 roentgens/hr at the delector surface. Since Cobalt-60 has a characteristic intensity of 1.3 roetgens/curie/hr at 1 meter and this intensity varies inversely as the square of the distance from the source, the required source strength can be calculated. A separation distance of 15 feet, of about 4.5 meters, requires a source strength of

4.5²(0.013 hr) (1.3 roentgens/curie/hr)

Radio and Data Acquisition System

The radio system. The selection of radio link equipment for the radiation snow gage system (8) was dictated by a multiplicity of parameters which were imposed by the agency using the system. The Corps of Engineers. Basically these requirements were for off-the-shelf availability of frequency modulated (EM) radio equipment. Of course the



10 X 10 TO 1/2 INCH 46 1320 7 X 10 INCHES MADE IN U.S.A KEUFFEL & ESSER CO.

....

М М

Federal Communications Commission regulations of $\pm 8 \text{KHz}$ bandwidth and ± 0.0000 per cent frequency stability were simultaneously required.

Two methods of frequency modulating a transmitter carrier with the snow gage pulses are available. One method is to use datect frequency-shift keying modulation and the other is to use phase shift modulation. The method of direct frequency shift keying permits a direct carrier shift during the presence of a pulse. It has been shown that modulating pulse lengths should be less than 1.2 milliseconds if the bandwidth is to remain in the +8KHz tolerance limit (C). The phase shift modulating method uses an oscillator, whose frequency is usually about 2 KHs, which is sugned "on" and "off" by the respective application and comoval of a pulse. For preservation of +3 KHA baseleith, at has been shown that these pulses should be at least 2,5 milliseconds in duration.

Based on a University of Idaho survey of radio equipment suitable for this relemetry application, it was found that only phase shift modulation methods were commercially available. The requirement of off-the-shelf availability indicated that the most suitable equipment was made by Motorola Communications and Electronics, Incorporated (8).

The Motorola equipment was evaluated and found to meet all environmental specifications. For the Motorola "Radiophone", the transmitter consumes no power at standby and 12.6 watts during transmission. The receiver of this same unit requires 100 millionatts during standby and 200 milliwatts during the receiving operation.

A noise elimination feature of a phase shift FM system is inherent in the cone signal discrimination

technique. The tone actuated decoders used are highly frequency selective, thereby responding only to the basic oscillator frequency.

The data conversion system. The emission of 1 microsecond duration pulses from the photomultiplier tube and the transmission bandwidth requirement of pulse information at least 7.5 milliseconds long are incompatible. This problem is solved by interposing divider circuits between the pulse height discriminator and the transmitter modulator as shown in Figure 5. This figure shows the dividers, each one of which divides the incoming counts by 2, and a pulse generator used to form a pulse sufficiently long for transmitter modulation. The basic divider circuit is that of a bistable mutivibrator; the pulse generator is a monoscable mutivibrator.

The interposing of the dividers in the detector causes a difficulty in measuring output count rate, The number of dividers, r_{2} will provide a divisor of $s = 2^{r}$. A system weakness is possible since, at the base station, pulse counting will take place during a time interval specified by the desized measurement accuracy. Hence an observed coupt may be in error by as much as s-1 counts stored in the detector dividers at the instant the base station counting interval is ended. A similar error can occur at the beginning of the timing interval which will cause the count to be high by s-1 counts. This uncertainty is eliminated by starting and ending the timing interval at the precise instant that a pulse is received. Thus the total detector count would be sN, where N is equal to the number of pulses counted at the base station.

Figure 10 shows the data conversion equipment as incorporated into both tempte and base stations. In this system the initially random count rate is divided by a large factor, so to produce a regularizing effect on



the randomness. This regularizing effect increases with the increased values of s (5). The resultant benefits are. (1) regularization of the time intervals between binary output pulses allows the transmitted pulse length to be maximized with little danger of losing any pulses due to time intervals shorter than the transmitted pulse lenth; (2) the average time interval between pulses is multiplied by the factor, s, allowing the transmission of long pulses with attendant advantages in bandwidth reduction and noise elimination.

A number of factors determines the optimum value of the division varue, at

- 1. Minimum count rate (Length of counting time)
- The length of the transmitted pulse should be two orders of magnitude greater than the length of the pulses emanated from the photomultiplier tubs.
- 3. The bandwrith required by the radio transmission system depends on the length of the transmitted pulses. For optimal use of bandwidth, two successive pulses should be separated by an interval equal to one pulse length.

The operation of the system in Figure 10 is described. For each s pulses from the photomultiplier tube a single output pulse will modulate the transmitter. One of these modulating pulses will be used to initiate the timing interval at the base station. At this instant a time interval is begun and the preset counter continues to count the transmitter output pulses. This counter is set for N pulses according to the desired accuracy determined by sN. When the Nth pulse arrives at the preset counter, the counter stops the time interval measuring unit. Thus a number of pulses, N, have been counted over a known time interval.

Snow Gage Calibration

The information given in previous sections of this

report is applied to a practical method of calibrating a detector when installed at a snow site. It is possible to calibrate such a detector by using actual amounts of water in a baryoi or by using lead disks (10).

A barrel may be placed directly above the detector and detector count sates measured as water is added to the barrol. This method is quite satisfactory when a 22inch diameter barrel is used for levels of water approaching 40 inches. As can be seen in Figure 11, this method causes a departure from predicted linearity on a semilogarithmic plot. Since this water-filled barrel does not represent an "infinite" absorber area, as implied by the narrow-beam attendation equation, a similar calibration procedure was cested in a swinning pool.

For the swimming pool test, the radiation detector was submarged in the pool and a radiation source was suspended above the water surface and detector. Detector count rates were taken as the water was drained from the swimming pool. These data are also shown in Figure 11. This figure shows that the use of a small barrel will not give a linear semilogarithmic plot at high water levels as is the case with the "infinite" area of the swimming pool. Thus, for the purposes of field calibration, a small barrel may be used for increasing water levels until the calibration curve becomes nonlinear. At this point the calibration curve is completed by linear extrapolation of the data taken for lower water levels.

Since a water barrel is difficult to transport to a typical field sinc, the possibility of calibration with lead disks was investigated. The lead disk test was conducted similarly to the water barrel test: Data were taken for increased invels of lead until the calibration curve became nonlinear; the remaining portion of the curve was obtained by linear extrapolation of the data.





These data, depicted for both the shimming pool and lead disks in Figure 12, show that a loinch thick lead disk is equivalent to about 10.1 inches of water. Of course this linear relationship ceases to exist above the point at which the lead disk curve becomes nonlinear.

Some notes on field calibration. Since the data obtained from the snow gage are certainly no better than the validity of the calibration curves used for data interpretation, a few notes on the calibration of this device are in order. The majority of these comments are based on the experience of the author and would be difficult to evaluate quantitatively (4).

At least 48 hours before the calibration procedure is started, the source should be mounted on the tower and the detector burned in its underground container. This allows all of the detector components to reach a uniform and stable temperature. A survey should be made to ensure that the radiation beam is centered with respect to the detector photomultiplics tube. This survey should be made at the time the source and detector are installed in order that any changes in configuration will be made before the system is allowed to temperature stabilize.

When setting up the apparatus for actual calibration, careful attention must be given to the geometry of the gaging system. If lead disks are used, it is recommended that these disks be at least 12 inches in diameter and, when placed in the radiation beam, they should be accurately centered over the photomultiplier tube. When a barrel is used for calibration, a barrel should be selected whose configuration is that of a right circular cylinder: The peripheral side of this barrel should be straight and oriented normal to the potton. This barrel should be centered accurately over the photomultiplier tube; the





barrel should be flowed to so that the longitudinal axis of the barrel is nother able that section of the radiation beam. Salino to relate the trighment may result in a nonlinear sublogation to choose.

The caltbration date for colors is the depth of water, or lead as the same de, be, is corrected and then a graph is prepared showing concertive and a logarithmic scale and inches of water the time in the bala, Data taken with lead disks and barrols, hope in two laboratory and in the fleid, have influence that and henrites that may arise in the resultable callbarters three will appear at either wery high cours of the light low rates. At extremely high count cases of a finading" is caused by saturation of the decentry contaction [9]. This results from the inability of electron of the recover from the offect of a pulse contract to bulke applyes. This long recorder time causes the should be register fewer strongthe are not word, that front it minimized. For extremely for count type, the thet.on data will indicate, if used for rate to a organic purposes, that a given count sale corresponds the fact solver is a show pack than it did when the barrel was used. This phenomenon at low count rate corresponds to less water in a snow path than it did when the barres was the dy. This phenomenon at low count faces is caused by the recently of the calibration barned and absorber. Statement, and in the paragraph indicate that, if as then is strong sources giving zero water count rates at the set of the counts day second) are not a che che che condenne d'ante availant from zero up to about 40 inches a super, or from tore to about 4 inches of lasd. Depend oble to be the calabration curve is obtained by fine contractioners of existing data.

Sincily at scould reach a vortex that it is necessary that all power be converse the detector assembly for at least 15 manuals tradicing a period of power application

$\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{x}}$ and $\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{x}}$, we define \mathbb{R}^{n} ,	toquirement is
absolution en la companya en la comp	the to hysteresis
effectes and a second second	<i>u</i>

States and the second s	e the discussion of
the radiants of a second	that a relations and the en-
countered public	the previous sections
of this ball is	grave system, as present-
ly in species.	easin, will be
Summ & Classica	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Latter terms for a	ti star, nickel
な品情報ないたというなからない。	$z_{\rm c}$) $z_{\rm c}$. The DU-DC
	- 1 Barbactery Volo
集画賞使 All Carlos a Capital All	1 to supply operat-
ing poles to t	is is implifier, and
pulse here to a des	the high voltage
supplies to a contract of	inter required by
the photo matrice	

.

-

.

the preptor which is alter de service en la mounted sector with others of the second in a large wates trybing of the source. The batters and eight to a commune water-tight de rediviserope support allow the batteries as well as the state of a set source's circuitry. The gamma process of a contamplefied by a instiplier tube combate the second second second second sube regulate containing in the second se . Ther regulated by angtled L 1 Mar 198 ្រុះស៊ុន ស្ថា ៥ស៊ី🖉 photomulation ್ ಜೀಕ ಗಡಚಿತ್ರಾನ **ಸಿಜ್ರಾ**



Figure 13. Block diagram of detector and power supply.

the photomultiplier tube representing the Cobalt-60 photopeaks are in the range just below that required to saturate the linear amplifier.

The linear amplifier output pulses, which correspond to photopeak energies, are applied to the pulse height discriminator which is capable of operating in any of three modes: (1) The upper and lower levels of descrimination may be selected independently; (2) A window width may be selected which is from 0 to 10 per cent of the lower level discrimination setting; (3) An integral mode of operation can be selected in which all pulses above a certain amplitude, as determined by the lower level discrimination setting, are passed by the discriminator. This latter mode of operation is used in the radiation snow gage with the lower level of discrimination, or threshold, set slightly below the Cobalt-60 photopeaks as shown in Figure 3.

The output pulse rate from the pulse height discriminator is reduced by binary dividers to a rate compatible with the radio transmission system. A monostable multivibrator pulse generator shapes the output waveform which is used to modulate the radio transmitter.

SNOW GAGE SYSTEM RESULTS

Since the development of the radiation snow gage, three of these gages have each had four successful years of operation in the Clearwater River Basin(8, 10). The snow gages have had no operational failures. Before mentioning the data obtained from this system, it should be noted that no reliable standard of measuring snow pack water content is available. The inherent inaccuracies in the more conventional means of measurement, such as the snow tube method, are sufficiently large that, at best, normal deviations in readings exceed the expected error





BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Duncan, D. L., G. A. McKean. <u>Investigation of</u> <u>Radioisotope Components and Techniques</u>. Progress <u>Report No. 3</u> <u>Report prepared by University of Idaho Engi-</u> neering Experiment Station for the Corps of <u>Engineers</u>, Walla Walla District, under Contract No. DA-45-164-CIVENG-62-172, September 30, 1962.
- 2. Duncan, D. L., G. A. McKean, K. D. Wohllaib. Investigation of Radioisotope Snow Gage Components and Techniques. Progress Report No. 4. Report prepared by University of Idaho Engineering Experiment Station for the Corps of Engineers, Walla Walla District, under Contract No. DA-45-164-CIVENG-62-172. January 31. 1963.
- 3. Duncan, D. L., G. A. McKean, K. D. Wohllaib. Investigation of Radioisotope Snow Gage Components and Techniques. Progress Report No. 6. Report prepared by University of Idaho Engineering Experiment Station for the Corps of Engineers, Walla Walla District, under Contract No. DA-45-164-CIVENG-62-172, October 31, 1963.
- 4. Duncan, D. L., G. A. McKean. Theory of Operation and Design Specifications for a Radioisotope Snow Gage. Report prepared by University of Idaho Engineering Experiment Station for the Corps of Engineers, Walla Walla District, under Contract No. DA-45-164-CIVENG-62-172, October 30, 1963.
- 5. Evans, Robley D. The Atomic Nucleus. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., 1955.
- 6. Feller, William. An Introduction to Probability Theory and Its Applications. Vol. 1. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1950.
- 7. Jarret, Alan A. Statistical Methods Used in the Measurement of Radioactivity with Some Useful Graphs and Nomographs. United States Atomic Energy Commission, Office of Technical Information, Report AECU-262. (Copies may be obtained from the Office of Technical Services, Department of Commerce, Washington 25, D. C.)
- 8. McKean, G. A., D. L. Duncan. <u>A Communication and Data</u> <u>Conversion System for a Radioisotope Snow Gage</u>. <u>Report prepared by University of Idaho Engi-</u> neering Experiment Station for the Corps of Engineers, Walla Walla District, under Contract No. DA-45-164-CIVENG-62-172, September 30, 1964.

- 9. Price, William J. Nuclear Radiation Detection. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., 1958.
- 10. Wohllaib, K. D., D. L. Duncan, G. A. McKean. Investigation of Radioisotope Snow Gage Components and Techniques. Progress Report No. 5. Report prepared by University of Idaho Engineering Experiment Station for the Corps of Engineers, Walla Walla District, under Contract No. DA-45-164-CIVENG-62-172, June 30, 1963.